RECEIVED 08-27-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS—DISTRICT III

Case No. 2020AP983-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JUAN J. CASTILLO,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Outagamie County, the Honorable John A. Des Jardins, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ELLEN J. KRAHN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085024

TRISTAN S. BREEDLOVE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081378

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 261-0626 krahne@opd.wi.gov

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the circuit court err when it did not allow the defense's expert on the reliability of the complainant's statements to testify on *Daubert* grounds?

The trial court ruled the testimony was not admissible.

II. Did the circuit court err when it denied Mr. Castillo's motions for mistrial when the victim, GIV, and Mr. Castillo's sister violated the circuit court's motion in limine rulings?

The circuit court concluded that striking the testimony was a sufficient remedy and a new trial was not necessary.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested because it is anticipated that the briefs will adequately address all relevant issues. Publication may be warranted to help clarify the law on when expert testimony is allowed in cases involving sexual assault of minors.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

Periodically during the summer of 2017, Juan Castillo stayed with his mother, Sandra Castillo, and as many as twelve other people in a home in Oneida, WI. He was arrested the following fall, three days before his 18th birthday, suspected of sexually assaulting a family member in that home.

State's Theory of the Case

According to the state, a month before his arrest Mr. Castillo's then-6-year-old second cousin (GIV) told her mom (AS) that Mr. Castillo sexually assaulted her. (92:127). In response, AS took GIV to be interviewed at a child advocacy center. (92:139). During the forensic interview, GIV alleged that during the summer when she was 5 years old, she was staying at her aunt Shelbie's house. (2:2). GIV alleged that one night Mr. Castillo picked her up from the bed where she was sleeping near other family members and took her to his room. (2:2; 92:50). In the room, he asked her to suck his private part and he attempted to have penetrative sex with her. (92:50). The state used GIV's report to initiate charges against Mr. Castillo. (2).

Defense's Theory of the Case

According to the defense, nothing improper ever happened. (92:56). The state presented no physical evidence. The state's case relied heavily on the non-corroborated testimony of five-year-old GIV. (93:57). Nobody reported seeing anything out of the ordinary between GIV and Mr. Castillo. (93:59).

Case 2020AP000983 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-27-2020 Page 9 of 39

The defense suggested that GIV sometimes struggled to tell the truth; she lied about her age in her child advocacy center interview, and then immediately denied lying. (93:62). She also first alleged that the assault happened in the summer of 2015 when Mr. Castillo was incarcerated at Lincoln Hills Correctional Center. (92:100; 93:38). When this impossibility was brought to her attention, she changed her story to say it occurred during a more recent summer. (87:12; 92:100; 34).

also had a motive to make a false accusation. (93:62). At the time, AS had financial difficulties and spent significant periods of her life away from her six children. (93:62-63). GIV and her siblings would frequently spend long periods at Shelbie's house, a home already full of people. (93:11). GIV likes her mom and wanted to live with her. (92:85). She had also encountered sexually explicit material that provided her with sexual knowledge and vocabulary unusual for a five-year-old. (93:63). She watched a TV show about child sexual assault with Mr. Castillo's sister, and had caught her mom and her boyfriend engaging in sexually explicit acts with each other. (Id.). The defense argued that when faced with another potential long-term separation from her mother, she accused Mr. Castillo of sexually assaulting her so as not to have to leave her mom and return to Sandra's house. (93:62-63). She did not seem to understand the consequences accusation beyond the outsized amount of attention she received from her mom.

Pre-Trial Proceedings

Two motions in limine and a *Daubert*¹ hearing regarding the defense's proposed expert are relevant to this appeal.

Before trial, trial counsel filed motions in limine to preclude reference to certain information at trial. The court granted the defense's request that any reference to Mr. Castillo's prior arrests, warrants probation, convictions, electronic monitoring or incarceration be excluded. (86:9; App. 109) The court also granted trial counsel's request to exclude any reference to allegations Mr. Castillo engaged in illegal activity at any point other than as alleged in the criminal complaint involving GIV, including but not limited to claims that Mr. Castillo sexually assaulted GIV's sister, DAV. (86:9-10; App. 109-110). Initially, GIV's sister also claimed to have been sexually assaulted by Mr. Castillo. However, she immediately recanted in her own child advocacy center interview. (86:10; App. 110).

Additionally, trial counsel proposed to offer at trial the expert testimony of Dr. David Thompson, a clinical and forensic pathologist. (31). Dr. Thompson reviewed the recording of GIV's interview and the transcript of that interview from which he composed a written report containing his findings. (29).

The report delineated six factors that can affect the reliability of child memory. Those factors include repeated interviewing, external influences that can affect a child's report, inappropriate interviewing

¹ Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993).

Case 2020AP000983 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-27-2020 Page 11 of 39

techniques, interviewer bias, therapy effects, and source misattribution errors. (29). Dr. Thompson's report set forth research findings supporting each of the six factors. (29). Trial counsel also proposed that Dr. Thompson testify generally about the acquisition, storage and retrieval of memories and how certain influences can affect those memories and how they are reported. (31).

The State objected to Dr. Thompson testifying arguing such testimony would "usurp the role of the jury and is an improper commentary on the believability of a witness." (32:1). The court held a *Daubert* hearing regarding the testimony. (84).

At the hearing, Dr. Thompson noted that he would not be willing or able to offer an opinion as to whether GIV was telling the truth but could identify factors that would either increase or decrease reliability of memory. (84:19). In fact, Dr. Thompson testified at the hearing that he watched GIV's interview several times to analyze it for potential interviewer bias. He created a spreadsheet to code each utterance by the adult interviewer so that the interviewer's questioning techniques could be compared to best practices. (84:17). Moreover, Dr. Thompson would be able to describe a variety of factors present in this case that research has shown affect reliability of a child's statements. (84:19).

The court found Dr. Thompson to be qualified but excluded his testimony because it believed that Dr. Thompson essentially "extrapolates from his assumptions, and it is just too speculative to say with any kind of certainty that these opinions are reliable

enough for the jury to consider." (86:8; App. 108). The court excluded Dr. Thompson from testifying. (86:8; App. 108).

Trial

The trial took place over two days. Because of the lack of physical evidence, the case rested on the relative credibility of witness testimony.

On the first day of trial, the state called GIV to testify. Her testimony was mostly consistent with her forensic interview. However, contrary to her interview, where she testified that Mr. Castillo carried her into the bedroom from her aunt Shelbie's room, GIV testified that she was in the living room and Mr. Castillo told her to come into the bedroom. (92:67-68). At the conclusion of GIV's testimony, the state asked, "Is there anything else you'd like us to know?" to which GIV replied "he did it to three other little girls." (92:75; App. 118). The defense objected. (*Id.*). The court struck the testimony and instructed the jury to disregard it. (*Id.*).

The state also called GIV's mother, AS, to testify. AS confirmed that her daughter GIV stayed with her mom and aunt for a period of time a couple of years ago. (92:126). AS explained that at some point when GIV returned home, GIV told her what happened. AS stopped a phone call she was on to listen to GIV and then took GIV to the hospital. (92:129).

The state called Officer Matthew Anderson, a sensitive crimes investigator. (92:148). Prior to taking the stand, the state requested the ability to ask the officer whether delayed reporting is common in child

Case 2020AP000983 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-27-2020 Page 13 of 39

sexual assaults. (92:149). The defense objected, citing lack of notice and that the defense was not allowed to bring in similar expert testimony. (92:149-150). The court nonetheless granted the state's request, stating that the defense had opened the door by questioning previous witnesses about GIV's delay. (92:151). The court concluded that Officer Anderson would qualify not as a "scientific expert, but a lay expert." (92:151).

The jury also heard from Lorena Castillo, Mr. Castillo's sister. Ms. Castillo described her mother's home, where GIV came to stay. (92:176-177). Ms. Castillo explained that there were six children and four adults, including her, living in the home at the time. (92:178). She explained that her mother and aunt were providing the day-to-day care for GIV. (92:178). The state asked Ms. Castillo about her conversations with her brother prior to trial. (92:198-200). When asked what they talked about, Ms. Castillo responded, "We talked about him getting a job if he gets out." (92:200; App. 122). The defense objected. (*Id.*). The court struck Ms. Castillo's answer and instructed the jury to disregard it. (*Id.*).

On the second day of trial, Mr. Castillo's mother, Shelbie Castillo, and Mr. Castillo both testified. (93). Ms. Castillo explained that the house was crowded and that Mr. Castillo was seldom present when GIV was living there. (93:28). One bedroom was mainly used for storage and people slept in the remaining bedrooms, the living room and sometimes a camper outside. (93:11, 26). GIV normally slept in a room with her grandmother. (93:29).

Case 2020AP000983 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-27-2020 Page 14 of 39

Mr. Castillo answered questions about the rooms in the house and explained that only the bathroom has a door while the rest of the room are only separated by curtains. (93:9). Mr. Castillo explained that he was back and forth between friends' houses during 2016 and was not living at his mother's house. (93:9). Mr. Castillo testified that when he returned to his mother's house, he never slept in the same room as GIV. (93:12). When asked if he had ever had sexual contact or intercourse with GIV, he responded, "absolutely not." (93:12).

Motions for Mistrial

During the trial, Mr. Castillo's attorney moved for a mistrial on two occasions. Both motions related to evidence that was presented to the jury in violation of the court's rulings with regard to motions in limine. (86).

First, the defense argued that the court should declare a mistrial after GIV testified that "he did it to three other little girls." (92:75, 106; App. 118, 120). The court denied the request. The court believed that the jury was capable of disregarding the comment and stated that it would "be a different situation if the question elicited this comment..." (92:107; App. 121). The court did acknowledge the that the comment was "prejudicial" but stated that taken in the context of the way the question was asked and the age of the child the court believed that the jury would give great deference to the court's instruction not to consider the testimony. (92:107; App. 121).

The defense also moved for a mistrial after an inappropriate reference to Mr. Castillo being in custody. Specifically, Mr. Castillo's sister responded

Case 2020AP000983 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-27-2020 Page 15 of 39

to a question about talking with Mr. Castillo prior to trial by saying "we talked about him getting a job if he gets out." (92:200; App. 122). Trial counsel objected based upon the court's prior ruling that any reference to Mr. Castillo's incarceration should be excluded.

The court denied the request for a mistrial. The court believed that the testimony "could have been interpreted a number of different ways." (92:208; App. 123). Additionally, the court believed that the testimony "was not specifically elicited by the question" and that telling the jurors to disregard it would be sufficient. (92:208; App. 123).

The jury found Mr. Castillo guilty of one count of sexual assault of a minor in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e). (93:78-79). The parties returned to court for sentencing on April 11, 2019. The court, the Honorable John Des Jardins presiding, sentenced Mr. Castillo to five years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision. (94:25).

Mr. Castillo now appeals. (75).

Case 2020AP000983 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-27-2020 Page 16 of 39

ARGUMENT

I. The Court Erred in Excluding Expert Testimony on Memory and Interview Techniques

The state's case relied heavily on old memories from a 5-year-old. Those memories changed over the course of the investigation. Therefore, it was essential to the defense that jurors understand the associated reliability concerns of those memories. "The ability of a witness to accurately perceive persons, objects and events, and then to correctly recall and relate those perceptions at trial[,] is relevant to the credibility of that witness' testimony," State, 92 Wis. 2d 450, 455–56, Hampton v. 285 N.W.2d 868 (1979). Mr. Castillo's expert, Dr. Thompson, was denied the ability to testify about either the ability for a child to recall memories accurately, or about child forensic interview techniques.

Appellate courts review a circuit court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard. State v. Shomberg, 2006 WI 9, ¶ 10, 288 Wis. 2d 1, 709 N.W.2d 370. A trial court's decision on the admission or exclusion of expert evidence "is an erroneous exercise of discretion when it rests upon a clearly erroneous finding of fact, an erroneous conclusion of law, or an improper application of fact to law." Seifert v. Balink, 2017 WI 2, ¶ 90, 372 Wis. 2d 525, 888 N.W.2d 816.

A. The Daubert Standard

In January 2011, the Wisconsin legislature amended Wis. Stat. § 907.02, governing the admissibility of expert testimony, to comport with the federal *Daubert* standard. *See State v. Giese*, 2014 WI App 92, 356 Wis. 2d 796, ¶ 17, 854 N.W.2d 687 (2014). The statute provides:

If scientific, technical, or otherwise specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and the witness has applied the methods reliably to the facts of the case.

Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1).²

Daubert analysis imposed two requirements of expert testimony: (1) that "[t]he subject of an expert's

² Wisconsin's Judicial Council Committee's Note of 1974 contends "With such a test expert testimony will usually be admissible and will only be excluded if superfluous and a waste of time." Such an approach was approved in *State v. Johnson*, 54 Wis. 2d 561, 196 N.W.2d 717 (1972); *Rabata v. Dohner*, 45 Wis. 2d 111, 124, 172 N.W.2d 409 (1969); *Jacobson v. Greyhound Corp.*, 29 Wis. 2d 55, 138 N.W.2d 133 (1965); *Kreyer v. Farmers' Co-op. Lumber Co.*, 18 Wis. 2d 67, 117 N.W.2d 646 (1962); *Anderson v. Eggert*, 234 Wis. 348, 291 N.W. 365 (1940). Note that this was the standard prior to 2011, but still informs the policy expressions of the state.

testimony must be 'scientific ... knowledge"3; and (2) that "the evidence or testimony [must] assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." Daubert, 509 U.S. at 589-91. The requirements are set to exclude ipse dixit testimony, because I am an expert, if I say so, it is correct.' The court offered a non-exhaustive list of questions for the lower courts to consider when making these determinations: 1.) whether evidence can be tested; 2.) whether the theory or technique has been subject to peer review; 3.) known or potential error rates: 4.) the maintenance of standards controlling the technique's operation; and 5.) the degree of acceptance within the relevant scientific community. Id. In this way, the court acts as a gatekeeper. 4 The quality standards of admission of evidence vary based on the type of evidence at issue and the purpose for which it is offered.

B. Dr. Thompson's Proffered Testimony Met the *Daubert* Standard.

A trial court's discretionary decision to admit or exclude a witness as an expert will not be reversed if it has a rational basis and was made in accordance with accepted legal standards in view of the facts in

³ The Court later held that *Daubert's* general principles were not limited to "scientific" knowledge, and that the analysis applies to all expert testimony. *Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael*, 526 U.S. 137, 147–48 (1999).

⁴ See State v. Giese, 2014 WI App 92, ¶ 18, 356 Wis. 2d 796, 854 N.W.2d 687 ("The court's gate-keeper function under the *Daubert* standard is to ensure that the expert's opinion is based on a reliable foundation and is relevant to the material issues." (citing Daubert.))

Case 2020AP000983 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-27-2020 Page 19 of 39

the record. *Giese*, 356 Wis. 2d, 796, ¶ 16. However, the court's ruling to exclude Dr. Thompson was an inappropriate exercise of discretion because Dr. Thompson's testimony met the required *Daubert* standard.

Here, the court is guided by the standard set forth in *Daubert* and the court is to determine whether or not there is scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge that will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue. Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1). The court should allow an expert's testimony if it is based upon sufficient facts or data, the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case. *Id*.

First and foremost, Dr. Thompson well-qualified to testify as an expert witness and the state stipulated to that fact. (84:13). Dr. Thompson's proffered testimony and opinion provided specialized would have information regarding six factors that can affect the reliability of child memory. Those six factors being repeated interviewing, external influences that can affect a child's report, inappropriate interviewing techniques, bias. interviewer therapy effects, and misattribution errors.

For example, Dr. Thompson indicated that repeated interviewing can result in creating a memory trace for a non-event and a child will report information and a memory that did not occur. (84: 23). Second, research on external influences shows that there are a number of things that can affect

what a child has to say and what a child has to recall. (84:27). Negative stereotype induction is an example, where an individual is exposed to information about a person or reports or descriptions of a person that suggests that person fits the specific stereotype. (84:28). Another example is the effect of parents and parents' reports or descriptions on children. (84:28).

Third, research indicates that the use of appropriate interviewing techniques helps to obtain reliable information from a child without tainting it and inappropriate techniques could have the opposite effect. (84:33). Open ended questions allow for more accurate responses while more focused questioning decreases reliability of what a child is going to tell you. (84:33-34). Fourth, as for interviewer bias, research indicates that bias can affect what a person interview and the interviewer reports in an communicates bias very subtly through gestures such as body language, facial expressions, and tone of voice. (84:39-40).

Fifth, as to therapy effects, the research shows that an individual is subjected to repeated rehearsal of a traumatic event. (84:42-43). Finally, as for source misattribution errors, which are simple memory errors when a person is attributing a source of a particular memory incorrectly, research indicates that children can be very susceptible to them. (84:45-49).

Here, Dr. Thompson's testimony would have informed the jury as to the research findings in general and that would have assisted in an explanation of how the research findings on interviewing could be applied to the evidence in this Case 2020AP000983 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-27-2020 Page 21 of 39

case. Additionally, lay jurors would not know this information without the help of an expert witness. So, this information would have been helpful to the determination of guilt or innocence of Mr. Castillo.

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