FILED 10-28-2020 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

Filed 10-28-2020

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2020AP0983-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JUAN J. CASTILLO,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE OUTAGAMIE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN A. DES JARDINS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

TIMOTHY M. BARBER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1036507

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-2340 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) barbertm@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court properly excluded Thompson's proposed testimony as not fitting the facts, likely to confuse the jury, and violating the *Haseltine* rule.

Castillo argues that the circuit court erred in excluding his expert's proffered testimony under *Daubert* and *Haseltine*. On appeal the State does not challenge Thompson's credentials as an expert or the reliability of the general principles he relied upon. However the circuit court properly excluded the testimony on the basis that it did not fit the facts of the case, its limited probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of confusing the jury, and, if allowed, it would have violated the *Haseltine* rule.

Α. To be admissible, expert testimony must: (1) be helpful to the jury; (2) relate to a matter of consequence; and (3) must not usurp the role of the jury.

Admission of expert testimony is governed by Wis. Stat. § 907.02. The statute states that "[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue," then "a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise," provided that "the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and the witness

Filed 10-28-2020

has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case." Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1) (emphasis added).¹⁰

The test for whether expert testimony will "assist the trier of fact" is "whether the untrained layman would be qualified to determine intelligently and to the best possible degree the particular issue without enlightenment from those having a specialized understanding of the subject." State v. Swope, 2008 WI App 175, ¶ 27, 315 Wis. 2d 120, 762 N.W.2d 725 (citation omitted).

Moreover, in addition to meeting the requirements of section 907.02, expert testimony must be relevant to be admissible. State v. Schmidt, 2016 WI App 45, ¶ 75, 370 Wis. 2d 139, 884 N.W.2d 510. "Evidence is relevant if it has any tendency to make the existence of a fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable." *Id.* ¶ 76 (citing Wis. Stat. § 904.01). In other words, the proposed testimony must "fit" the facts of a particular case. *Dobbs*, 392 Wis. 2d 505, ¶¶ 43–47. "Fit" is "a matter of circuit court discretion." *Id.* ¶ 48.

Section 907.02 also provides courts with "flexibility to limit otherwise relevant and reliable expert testimony that, if given in the form of an opinion, would invade the prerogative of the finder of fact." *Id.* ¶ 36 n.17. Specifically, an expert may not "vouch" for the credibility of a witness or testify a witness is not telling the truth. State v. Haseltine, 120 Wis. 2d 92, 95– 96, 352 N.W.2d 673 (Ct. App. 1984). That is because such testimony "invades the province of the fact-finder as the sole determiner of credibility." State v. Kleser, 2010 WI 88, ¶ 104, 328 Wis. 2d 42, 786 N.W.2d 144.

¹⁰ The statute, as amended in 2011, adopted the federal framework for assessing expert testimony set forth in Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993), and its progeny. Seifert v. Balink, 2017 WI 2, ¶¶ 50–51, 372 Wis. 2d 525, 888 N.W.2d 816.

- В. The excluded testimony about how factors may have affected GIV's memory was not helpful to the jury because Thompson admittedly could not relate this testimony to the facts of the case.
 - 1. Expert testimony is unhelpful and does not fit if an expert is unable to connect general principles to the actual facts of the case at hand.

The circuit court properly excluded Thompson's testimony because Thompson had not "applied the principles and methods [he relied upon] reliably to the facts of the case." Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1). As explained recently by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Dobbs*, 392 Wis. 2d 505, ¶ 42, this requirement involves both "fit" and "helpfulness." In other words, "[g]eneralized expert testimony that is factually disconnected from the case is inadmissible because it does not assist the jury in rendering a verdict based on the material facts in issue." *Id.* ¶ 44 (citation omitted).

For instance, in Dobbs, the defendant sought to introduce expert testimony about false confessions during police investigations. The expert was prepared to testify about various factors that might make an innocent person falsely confess in order to "assist[] the jury in assessing the truthfulness of [his] confessions to police." Id. ¶¶ 46–47. However, the defendant did not demonstrate that any of the factors that might make an innocent person confess were actually present in the case; accordingly, the circuit court excluded the testimony. *Id.* ¶ 45. The Wisconsin Supreme Court affirmed, finding the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in determining that the proposed testimony did not fit the facts of the case. Id. ¶ 51.

Another case involving "fit" was State v. Schmidt, 2016 WI App 45, 370 Wis. 2d 139, 884 N.W.2d 510, which coincidentally, involved the same expert as this case—Dr.

Thompson. This Court ruled that the circuit court properly excluded Thompson's testimony about factors affecting the reliability of children's memories because he could not connect his general principles to the facts of the case. That is, like here, "Thompson purported to offer insight gleaned through his knowledge of various studies concerning how certain interview techniques and external factors can subtly influence a child's beliefs." *Id.* ¶ 78. And, like here, Thompson "could only testify about such matters at a high level of generality and could not tie these concepts in any meaningful way to the particular circumstances surrounding [the child's] statements to police." Id. This Court recognized that Thompson's testimony was helpful to the trier of fact only if the factors he identified were, in fact, present in this case— "a matter on which Thompson could not testify." *Id.*

Castillo tries to distinguish this case from Schmidt, by arguing that here, "Thompson indicated specific issues with GIV's interview statements, with the forensic interview, and techniques occurred." indicated suggestive interview (Castillo's Br. 17.) He claims that Thompson identified "interview bias" and "identified external influences" that affected GIV's testimony. (Castillo's Br. 17.)

None of these assertions are factually accurate. Put simply, Thompson admitted that for each factor he identified that *could* or *may* have affected GIV's testimony, he had no evidence that such factors were present, or that they actually influenced her statement, or to what effect. This is evident both in Thompson's report and his testimony at the Daubert hearing.

2. Thompson agreed he did not know if of the factors he identified actually affected GIV.

Thompson's report identified six factors that *could have* affected GIV's statement to police: (1) repeatedly interviewing

by her mother and social workers; (2) external influences; (3) inappropriate interview techniques; (4) interview bias; (5) therapy affects; and (6) source misattribution error. (R. 29:3–10.) But at the *Daubert* hearing, Thompson agreed that his proposed testimony amounted to things that "could have affected the victim but we don't know if they did." (R. 84:67.) And he admitted that he had "limited information available to him" to draw conclusions with respect to this case. (R. 84:67.)

a. Thompson admitted he was not aware of how often GIV's mother "interviewed" her or what effect, if any, it had on her statements.

Addressing the first factor, Thompson's report stated: "To the extent that the girl's mother used suggestive or leading questions" when asking GIV about the assault, her memories "may be tainted from that point forward." (R. 29:3.) Thompson likewise said that GIV's initial interactions with the physician's assistant and CPS worker before GIV's forensic interview "may have been irreparably tainted from the outset." (R. 29:4.) However, the report also stated, in no uncertain terms: "It is not possible for me to opine concerning the extent to which that actually occurred, as I have no reports or recordings upon which to base such an assessment." (R. 29:4 (emphasis added).)

At the *Daubert* hearing, Thompson admitted that he did not know how much GIV discussed the assault with her mother or sister and therefore "can't tell you if that clearly affected this particular child or not." (R. 84:25, 61.) He said: "I don't know." (R. 84:60.) Likewise, Thompson was not aware of the frequency or extent to which GIV discussed the assault with the social worker or physician's assistant at the hospital. (R. 84:66–67.)

Filed 10-28-2020

Therefore, by Thompson's own admission, was unable to reliably apply the general principles about the effects of repeated interviewing to the facts of this case. The same is true for all the other factors he identified.

b. Thompson admittedly could not opine that any "external factors" affected GIV.

As to external influences, Thompson's report explained that a child's memory can be influenced by the biases of adults in the household. Thompson noted that GIV's mother told police she had "trust issues" with Castillo, but that it was "unclear as to whether or not these concerns had been communicated to the children." (R. 29:5.) Indeed, while Castillo presented evidence that GIV's mother did not trust him, he presented no evidence that Anne communicated her personal opinion to GIV.

When asked at the hearing how external influences may have affected GIV's in this case, Thompson stated: "I can't tell you exactly what the effects were because . . . that's the job for the trier of fact" and he did not have specific information about whether the victim's mother's reported "trust issues" with Castillo had actually been communicated to the children. (R. 84:30–31 (emphasis added).)

Therefore, there was no factual foundation for Thompson's proposed testimony about the possible effects of external influences.

> Thompson could not identify any c. "improper" interview techniques admitted forensic and the interview did involve not suggestive questions.

As to the techniques used during GIV's forensic interview, Thompson said that "there are specific techniques

that this interviewer could have used to elicit more information" but he admitted that the interviewer "did not ask any suggestive questions." (R. 84:64 (emphasis added).) While he prepared a chart that purportedly showed that the frequency of certain types of questions deviated slightly from what he determined were "best practices," (R. 29:7), Thompson did not identify any questions that were improper. His report even states: "None of the queries posed by Ms. Bayer met the strict criteria for coding as suggestive." (R. 29:7).

Accordingly, there was no evidence that the forensic interviewer employed *improper* interviewer techniques or how or to what extent GIV's statement *actually was* affected.

d. Thompson admitted there was no evidence of interviewer bias.

Castillo states "Dr. Thompson indicated interview bias" because the forensic interview suggested "alternative hypotheses" to GIV. (Castillo's Br. 17.) This assertion is demonstrably false.

Thompson's report states, in black and white, that he "did not find evidence that suggested that the interviewer was biased." (R. 29:8.) While it is true that Thompson criticized the interviewer because she "considered alternative hypotheses," he immediately followed that statement by indicating, "I did not find evidence in this case that the interviewer was biased." (R. 84:41.) And, more importantly, Thompson did not explain how the "alternative hypotheses" affected GIV's statement.

Therefore, there was no factual basis to suggest that GIV's statement was affected by interviewer bias.

e. There was no evidence of "therapy effects."

Thompson's report also addressed "therapy effects" as something that *could* affect GIV's memory, but he concluded that he "did not find any specific evidence that [GIV was] involved in psychotherapy." (R. 29:8.) At the *Daubert* hearing, Thompson admitted that he did not know if GIV actually participated in psychotherapy, and also admitted that even if she did "it wouldn't affect the [forensic] interview itself because she was referred at the end." (R. 84:64–65.) Therefore, there was no evidence that GIV's memory was affected by the fact that she was recommended to therapy.

f. Thompson could not identify any "source misattribution errors" that actually existed.

Finally, Thompson addressed potential "source attribution error" and concluded that GIV's interactions with her mother and brother "may well serve as the basis for a source misattribution error." (R. 29:9.) But again, absolutely no evidence of any such "source misattribution error" existed.

As to potential source misattribution error from GIV's reported interactions with her brother, Thompson admitted he did not even know whether a sexualized interaction actually occurred. (R. 84:66.) And the circuit court expressly excluded any evidence of GIV allegedly sitting on top of her brother, as inadmissible under the rape shield law (R. 87:4–10)—a ruling which Castillo does not challenge on appeal. In any event, Thompson admitted that he could not tell whether the victim's interactions with her brother were normal or affected her ability to recall the assault, saying "[w]e don't know if in this specific case it did or not." (R. 84:62.)

And, to the extent that Castillo suggested that GIV may have gained sexual knowledge from her mother, all he could show was that GIV reported that one time she observed her

Filed 10-28-2020

mother and her boyfriend under bedsheets. (R. 92:186.)¹¹ There is absolutely no evidence of any other "external source" where GIV may have gained knowledge of a male trying to insert his "private part" in her "bottom," where she goes "poop," by "moving back and forth." (R. 92:77, 122.) Likewise, there was zero evidence presented that could account for GIV's being told to perform fellatio. (R. 92:73.)¹² Even assuming, arguendo, that such evidence existed (which it certainly did not), Thompson admitted he was unable to say how any such external influences "affected her [GIV] or specifically affected her memory and her reports," saying "we don't know." (R. 84:33, 62.)

* * * * *

In summary, the circuit court was correct that "in this particular case there are only hunches and guesses about what could have happened . . . it's speculative and it needs to match up with the particular incident." (R. 86:4.) Like his rejected testimony in Schmidt, 370 Wis. 2d 139, ¶ 78, here, Thompson "could only testify about such matters at a high level of generality and could not tie these concepts in any meaningful way to the particular circumstances surrounding [GIV's] statements." Thompson even agreed that his proposed testimony amounted to things that "could have affected the victim but we don't know if they did." (R. 84:67.)

In short, the record contains ample evidence that supports the circuit court's discretionary decision to exclude

¹¹ Lorena relayed this story but admitted she was "guessing" if GIV saw anything improper. (R. 92:187–92.)

¹² Castillo tried to tie this to a crime show GIV watched on television, but GIV expressly denied that the show involved a scenario where "the person had the kid suck the private part." (R. 92:96.) Lorena likewise denied that the show gave GIV sexual knowledge. (R. 92:184.)

Thompson's testimony under section 974.02(1) for not fitting the case.

C. The circuit court did not erroneously discretion when excluding exercise its Thompson's proposed testimony under Wis. Stat. § 904.03.

Even if proposed expert testimony is proper under section 974.02(1), the circuit court retains discretion to exclude such testimony under section 904.03 if it concludes that the probative value of such testimony is outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice or confusion of the issues. Schmidt, 370 Wis. 2d 139, ¶ 86. Here, as an alternative basis for its ruling, the circuit court explained that without a foundation based on case-specific facts Thompson's testimony was merely "speculative" (i.e. lacking in probative value) and that "a lot of [Thompson's] analysis would be confusing to the jury." (R. 86:8.)

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